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THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

www.flsd.uscourts. ov

NELSON J. GONZALES, an individual; Case No.
NELSON A. GONZALES, an individual;
IZAIDA ALTAMIRANO, an individual;
FATIMA APONTE, an individual;
MIRTHA BERNES, an individual;
PAUL CAMPAGNA, an individual;
RENATA CIRCEO, an individual;
LUIS COSIO, an individual;
OCTAVIO CRUZ, an individual;
JOSE CUESTA, an individual;
DONNA DALTON, an individual;
DOUGLAS DENT, an individual;
NICHOLAS DEITEL, an individual;
CHRISTIAN DIAZ, an individual;
ALBERTINA FIGUEROA, an individual;
ROBERTO FIGUEROA, an individual;
ALAN FOGELSTROM, an individual;
NORMA FOGELSTROM, an individual;
LIDIA GARCIA, an individual;
CARLOS GONZALES, an individual;
MARIA GONZALES, an individual;
NESTOR GUILLEN, an individual;
ENRIQUE GUZMAN, an individual;
MAGA GUZMAN, an individual;
JORGE L. HERNANDEZ, an individual;
LEONARDO HERNANDEZ, an individual;
MIGUEL HERNANDEZ, an individual;
MICHELLE HURTADO, an individual;
JEAN JOSEPH, an individual;
MARIE JOSEPH, an individual;
JEROME KAMINS, an individual;
JASPAL KOCHAR, an individual;
ALEN JANDRO LUZARDO, an individual;
MIROSLAVA LITTERDRAGT, an
individual;
DINORAH LLANES, an individual;
STELLA R. MARKELY, an individual;
MARIE MILLER, an individual;
AARON MIR, an individual;
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ARLYN MIR, an individual;
JASON MOEDING, an individual;
CINDY MURILLO, an individual;
TALIA OLIVERA, an individual;
RUBEN PARRA, an individual;
CONNIE RICOTTA, an individual;
EDDIE RIVERA, an individual;
NANCY P. RODRIGUEZ, an individual;
LOURDES RUIZ DE LA TORRE, an
individual;
MARTHA RODRIGUEZ, an individual;
GUIDO RODRIGUEZ, an individual;
JAIME SANCHEZ, an individual;
MARGARITA SHEA, an individual;
JULIET SICSIC, an individual;
ILIANA SORRENSEN, an individual;
DAVID STARKEY, an individual;
ASHMELLEY THERVIL, an individual;
MAILIN TOMLINSON, an individual;
HUGO URRIBARRI, an individual;
KENNETH WEINER, an individual;
JAMES YOCUM, an individual,

Plaintiffs,

V.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, a government
entity; COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, a

overnment entity; CITY OF LOS
NGELES, a government entity;

KAMALA D. HARRIS, individually and
in her official capacity as Attorney
General of the State of California;
BENJAMIN DIEHL, individually and in
his capacity as an attorney for the Office
of the Attorney General for the State of
California; JAMES M. TOMA,
individually and in his official capacity as
Deputy Attorney General for the State of
CaIifornia; THE STATE BAR OF
CALIFORNIA, a public corporation; and
DOES 1-10, inclusive,

Defendants.
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COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs hereby demand a jury trial and alleges as follows:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. Pla i n t i ffs sue for violation of their civil rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section

1983. This Court has jurisdiction over such claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Sections 1331

and 1343. To the extent required by law — and limited to any such extent as it may be

reduced or eliminated by operation of the United States Constitution, the United States

Bill of Rights, the foregoing Civil Rights Laws, any State or Federal Statute, and/or any

applicable judicial opinion of any Appellate Court of the States of California, Florida,

New York, the United States of America and/or the United States Supreme Court — this

action is filed at the first instance, and if allowed or required by law, the only instance,

"to toll any applicable statute of limitations."

2. The a cts and omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs' claims occurred in and

around Los Angeles, California, and were specifically intended by Defendants to have

unlawful, tortious and damaging impact in this District in Florida and against Plaintiffs

who are all residents of the State of Florida; therefore the appropriate venue for this

action is the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

3. The n e arly 300 p laintiffs in t h is case represent U.S. citizens from

California, Florida and New York who have hired Mitchell J. Stein & Associates LLP

(and various lawyers who are it co-counsel) to represent them in lawsuits that have been

filed — or will be filed — against Bank of America and 13 other financial institutions that

have committed various types of mortgage fraud and then stolen, or tried to steal, the

homes of these plaintiffs in violation of state and federal laws. On August 17, 2011

California Attorney General Kamala Harris grossly violated plaintiffs' civil r ights by

seizing their legal files and denying them the right to the legal counsel of their choice.

She did so under the cover of secrecy without any public airing of the facts, without
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proper court approval, without naming plaintiffs in her suit, without naming the LLP in

her suit, and thus without allowing either plaintiffs or their counsel or any court a chance

to respond. She did so based on an inadequate investigation and cited demonstrably false

accusations against attorney Mitchell J. Stein. And she did so at the behest of Bank of

America, whose attorneys are deeply alarmed by the substantive progress Mr. Stein has

achieved in the plaintiffs' mass joinder cases against the bank, to the point that these

attorneys have — in the utmost example of governmental corruption — funneled money to

the Defendants in order to persuade Harris to make this unprecedented move.

4. Har r is took this action while making the transparently false claim she was

protecting "consumers." Plaintiffs are among the consumers she purports to be protecting
and they hereby vigorously reject Harris' jaded interpretation of "protection." Plaintiffs'

desire is to continue to be represented by the LLP — and one of its partners Mr. Stein 

and for him to continue to unravel the worst systematic fraud committed by any financial

institution in United States history. Mr. Stein — having previously represented the FSLIC

and the RTC during the Savings and Loan meltdown of 1990 — is in the minds of these

Florida plaintiffs best suited to be the master of their legal team in bringing the banks to

long-awaited justice.

5. Defe ndants intentionally violated the due process of all plaintiffs by not

naming as a Defendant the law firm — the LLP — representing all plaintiffs herein. The

Defendants seized property and f i les from a person, Plaintiff Mi tchell J. Stein &

Associates LLP ("LLP"), that the Defendants themselves approved as a limited liability

company on May 2, 2011 and that the Defendants know represents homeowners in states

from New York to California and from Florida to Washington. Defendants instructed

their agents to seize all of the LLP and plaintiffs' property although no Court ever

sanctioned or allowed them to do so directly, indirectly or otherwise.

6. Rat her than protecting consumers, Harris' actions primarily benefit Bank of

America, which has sought repeatedly to discredit Mr. Stein ever since he filed in 2009

what the Harris herself described as the "granddaddy" of mass joinder bank cases. On

February 3, 2011, Bank of America lawyer Keith Klein went into Superior Court with the
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very same allegations — and was told by the Trial Court that the bank had not presented a

legitimate complaint against Mr. Stein and that Mr. Stein was the victim, not the

perpetrator. The bank then took those same claims to Harris and arranged for her to do
their bidding in an "end around," after corruptly funneling money to Harris and the other

defendants through the bank's counsel of record against Plaintiffs.

7. Har r i s formed a mortgage fraud task force to great political fanfare just

three months ago. Yet that task force has taken no action whatsoever against Bank of

America or any other bank. Instead she attacked Mitchell J. Stein personally (but,
intentionally, not the LLP) who has achieved the greatest progress in seeking to hold the

banks to account. Based upon Mr. Stein's work and cooperation with and advisement to

federal authorities, Harris' and Bank of America's attempt to silence their most feared
enemy — Mr. Stein — backfired on Friday when the United States of America sued Bank

of America again, alleging the same wrongdoings Mr. Stein alleged back in 2009.

Harris' was so bent on protecting Bank of America that she "didn't appear" for a

scheduled meeting with the Department of Homeland Security just three weeks ago to

discuss whether California was complying with DHS, FDIC and Comptroller of the

Currency directives against the nation's banks during this national banking crisis.

8. Har r i s discounted Mr. Stein's accomplishments in the California Bank of

America Litigation' based solely and preposterously on a declaration from Bank of

America's opposing counsel in that case. This is the bank's counsel, who has not been

able to obtain dismissal of said case despite years of litigation and multitudes of motions.

To the contrary, on August 1, 2011 and at the request of Mr. Stein, the Trial Judge

expanded the lawsuit against the bank — over bank objections identical to Ms. Harris'  

and during a courtroom proceeding open to the public, added an additional 160+

plaintiffs to the case against Bank of America.

Qri ginally called Ronald, now — by order of the Trial Court — referred
to as I n Re : Country' de/Bank of Ameri ca Los Angeles Foreclosure Li ti gati on,
and collecti vely referred to hereinafter as "California Bank of America
Li ti gati on. "
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9. Har r i s disingenuously stated that "her office takes no position as to the

legal merits of any claims asserted in the mass joinder lawsuits filed by defendants" yet

she has put out a flier (one of many) saying that the public's lawsuits against banks in

mass are not capable of being successful. Mr. Stein has handled matters involving the

current bank crises for hundreds of people nationwide — and has litigated for thousands 

and his clients have faced merely a handful of foreclosures. And, for that reason, Harris

decided that she must protect her suitor Bank of America by taking a position and

seeking to remove the single most effective lawyer in prosecuting bank cases nation 

wide.

10. A l so to the benefit of Bank of America, Harris has chosen to support less

able competitors to pursue the mass joinder claims. In fact, the primary evidence cited by

Harris against Mr. Stein was provided by affidavits from attorneys at a competitor,

Brookstone Law Group. Harris gave credibility to Vito Torchia Jr. of Brookstone Law,

whose previous employer, United Law Group, was shut down by the state of Georgia last

year and disciplined by California authorities as part of a nationwide investigation into

mortgage fraud. Harris gave credibility to Brookstone Law's Damian Kutzner, who is

the subject of a $6 m i l l ion Consent Decree from the Federal Trade Commission

prohibiting him from various marketing activities. (See, Exhibit 2 discussed, infra.)

Defendants' evidence has been tendered by persons with judgments against them by the

United States of America, prohibiting them from doing precisely the things Harris

wrongly claims Mr. Stein did. These are Harris' partners: Lawyers from indicted law

firms, and marketers with $6 million FTC Consent Orders against them that run until

2018.

11. F u r ther, Harris and Defendants recently approved and provided cover for a

blatantly illegal marketing mailer by Brookstone Law Group, prepared by Brookstone in

conspiracy with (a) its owner Torchia, (b) its Chief Operating Officer, FTC Consent

Order defendant Kutzner, (c) Kenin M. Spivak and (d) Ellen Pansky who claims to have
"unparalleled" influence over Defendants and particularly the California State Bar. A true

and correct copy of the illegal mailer is appended hereto as Exhibit 1. (These persons are
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sometimes referred to hereafter as "Co-Conspirators" or "Brookstone Co-Conspirators".)
This mailer was sent using the means of interstate commerce throughout the United

States and makes the sort of egregiously false claims and promises that Harris claims she

and her task force are concerned about. Harris and Defendants approved this mailer in

July 2011, which states unequivocally that anybody signing up with Brookstone Law

who resides in the State of Florida (or California) will receive $75,000 from a "class

action" "settlement." The facts are that such a $75,000 "class action" "settlement" does

not exist and is not close to existing. The money generated from this mailer — Exhibit 1 

has been funneled to Torchia, Kutzner, Spivak and Pansky in violation of a 2009 Consent

Decree issued by the Federal Trade Commission prohibiting any such marketing and any

such funneling of money. It also violates the provisions of an automatic bankruptcy stay

of Kutzner and constitutes a bankruptcy crime. A t rue and correct copy of the 2009

Consent Decree barring Kutzner (or any cohort) from "making money from mailers (false

or not)" is appended hereto as Exhibit 2.

12. How ever, Harris did not include Torchia, Kutzner, Brookstone, Spivak

or Pansky in her "consumer complaints", allowing their operation to keep

disseminating their fraudulent mailers around the country to the great harm of

plaintiffs and other similarly situated Floridians. Why hasn't the state of California

taken action against Brookstone and instead has closed down the LLP without naming it

in any lawsuit in the United States of America — in violation of the due process clause of

the United States Constitution, particularly as it pertains to home owners across the

United States being foreclosed upon and being duped in violation of an FTC Consent

Order to send money to a disgraced law firm and its Co-Conspirators? Why hasn't the

state taken action against the Co-Conspirators, and instead criticized Mr. Stein who the

Defendants admit filed the first action in 2009 (the so-called "granddaddy" of all such

actions, which remains pending to this day and has saved hundreds if not thousands of

home owners from losing their homes), which predicted what Bank of America would do

and prevented at least some of its misdeeds? Why is she relying on testimony from

discredited attorneys and their agents who have FTC Consent Orders against them for
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illegal marketing practices, all to build a case against Mr. Stein who she knows has been

actively assisting the United States Department of Homeland Security for the past 18 

months? Is it because Mr. Stein is the most serious threat to Bank of America and the 13 

other bank servicers?

13. O n A u gust 17, 2011, law enforcement agents under orders from Harris

entered the Agoura Hills offices of the LLP without any court order or other subpoena

providing them with such rights, and armed with guns and tasers. They ordered staff of

the LLP to hand over all of their equipment, including personal computers, hard drives,

flash drives and their wallets containing money and personal effects. They confiscated

dozens of boxes of documents, including the personal files of the Plaintiffs in this case

although such Plaintiffs are litigating against bank misconduct in other States like

Florida, New York and/or Arizona. Harris also improperly seized files of the Department

of Homeland Security and its representatives, to which Harris and Bank of America knew

Mr. Stein has been an advisor on the issue of bank fraud for more than eighteen (18)
months. Before conducting this raid, the California attorney general's office had not

contacted the LLP or its partners Mr. Stein or former Florida prosecutor Michael S. Riley

or the LLP's employees, nor had they called any of their clients. In contrast, investigators

contacted the other attorneys and their clients caught up in the same complaint. Because

of this, in their f irst court date after the August 17, 2011 raid, the Receiver and

Investigator for the Government admitted that they had little evidence against Mr. Stein

and that, in any case, Mr. Stein had "defacto" ceased communications with any of the

other 26 defendants after February, 2011.

14. H a r r is' core substantive allegations are that Mr. Stein(not the LLP, which

was formed and approved by the California State Bar on May 2, 2011) used deceptive

and fraudulent advertising to get clients and that he failed then to produce results for

those clients. Both allegations are false and were easily refutable had she conducted an

adequate investigation. She did not. Her investigator admitted that his primary focus was

on Attorney Phillip Kramer. He did not interview Mr. Stein. He did not interview Mr.

Stein's staff. He did not interview Mr. Stein's associates in other States. He did not
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interview Mr. Stein's partner in the LLP, former Florida prosecutor Michael S. Riley.

Armed with no evidence, instead Harris decided that "guilt by association" was a

sufficient standard when seeking to achieve Bank of America's goals, and she presided

over a fraud in Van Nuys Superior Court by concealing volumes of evidence including

the existence of the LLP and its relationship with Federal investigators who within the

past two business days have sued Bank of America for the fraud Mr. Stein first alleged

more than two years ago, in March 2009. The United States' new lawsuit against Bank

of America is in d irect response to the actions of rogue and inexperienced State

Attorneys' General like the clueless Harris.

15. H a r r is claimed in her complaint that all the attorneys were "veterans of the

loan modification" industry. Mr. Stein has never been a participant in the loan

modification industry and in fact has never handled a single loan modification in 25-years

of practicing law. Mr. Stein did not use deceptive and fraudulent marketing practices to

lure unsuspecting clients into scam lawsuits. In fact, unlike Brookstone and the Co 

Conspirators, which have received encouragement from Harris and the Defendants to

send out illegal mailers making illegal claims (a purported $75,000 "class" settlement

that does not exist, Exhibit 1 hereto), he has never sent out any mailers whatsoever.
16. P l a intiffs were neither induced nor deceived in any fashion before asking

Mr. Stein to represent them. To the contrary, had Harris taken the time to contact Mr.

Stein's clients, she might have learned that many of Mr. Stein's clients were referred not

by advertising but by the offices of California Sen. Dianne Feinstein or the Department of

Homeland Security who were already throuh being "double-talked" and "lied to" by

Bank of America and needed a competent lawyer to refer to in order to help Senator

Feinstein's constituents. As he is prone to do, Mr. Stein helped these home owners

for free and these home owners are now quite confused to say the least about the

workings of their government. Harris could have spoken with Roger Fenstermacher,

who came to Mr. Stein after Harris refused to speak with him. Or Plaintiff Peter Quick,

who had almost given up ever getting justice from the bank which had stolen the home he

had lived in for generations. He credits Mr. Stein with keeping him in that home until a
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court is able to determine whether it was right for the bank even to contact him. These

are the people who are now being forced to go to federal court just to protect their right to

have the attorney they interviewed, hired and trusted go to battle on their behalf. Harris

also might have learned that in contrast to her wild allegations, Mr. Stein is representing

many hardship clients for no fees at all.

17. H a r r is might have spoken with any of the plaintiffs in this case, all of

whom had scoured the country looking for legal help before tracking down Mr. Stein and

convincing the LLP to take their cases. (Some of the cases were arranged to be taken pro

bono.) Through their research, plaintiffs learned that Mr. Stein was one of the few

attorneys who had actually gotten into a courtroom to litigate a case against Bank of

America and other bank servicers for mortgage fraud. The LLP and its affiliated law

firms represent plaintiffs in 22 states.

18. M r . St e in was the f i rst attorney to f i l e a l awsuit against the Bank of

America — i.e., the California Bank of America Litigation — laying out a massive fraud

against homeowners that has since been validated in reports from the Senate Permanent

Subcommittee on Investigations, the Government Accountability Office and the Federal

Reserve and in a series of lawsuits by AIG, attorney generals and — this week — the

Federal Housing Finance Agency. All of these subsequent reports and lawsuits built on

Mr. Stein's foundation.

19. I n her zeal to protect Bank of America, Kamala Harris simply threw Mr.

Stein in with more than a dozen lawyers, law firms and loan modification businesses and

then tarnished him with the blanket accusation of fraud and conspiracy. T h is is how

Bank of America wanted it. With a l ittle lying and cheating, the bank took a shot at
"removing from the playing surface" the super-star who had been beating it to a pulp for

two and a half years.

20. A s p roof of Harris' desperation in doing Bank of America's bidding, she

contends that Mr. Stein has engaged in "overblown advertising" on his company website.

The examples she cites are neither false nor deceptive. For example, she cites the

10
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following postings as examples of such dangerous hyperbole that she must shut down the

law practice of their author — Mr. Stein:

• March 3: "Recent announcements by Bank of America, Citigroup, and Wells

Fargo that they expect to pay fines from a regulatory probe of their foreclosure

practices are direct admissions that the banks improperly foreclosed on homes."
• March 12: "Banks coming down now. Judicial action and legislative power about

to occur."

Both of these statements were true when made, and reflected Mr. Stein's keen insight into

what is happening at the State and Federal level. Indeed, 30-days after the March 12

posting, the Comptroller of the Currency and the FDIC announced "judicial action"

against 14 bank-servicers and Consent Orders were handed down against many of those.

The legislature of Hawaii issued tough legislation against wrongful foreclosure practices

and corruption by the 14-bank servicers; practices and corruption that the Defendants are

right in the middle of as of the date of filing this Complaint. To wit: Taking money from

Bank of America to steal — without judicial approval of any kind — the files of Floridians

is the kind of corruption that results in incarceration in civilized societies.

21. Ha r r is refers to the purported fact that the California Bank of America

suit is in a "preliminary" stage as proof that the lawsuit is illegitimate. But Mr. Stein has

already taken discovery in that case including receipt of hundreds of thousands of pages

of documentary evidence and the deposition of Bank of America's custodian (taken by

Mr. Stein himself). In fact, given the legal firepower and political clout of Bank of

America — it is astonishing that this case has even made it into a courtroom. Harris states

that "Bank of America has not admitted to defrauding the government" as if that is

evidence that Mr. Stein's lawsuit is a sham. Is the Nevada attorney general's lawsuit

against Bank of America, which copies many of the same claims outlined in the

California Bank of America Case, also a sham?

11
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22. F i n a l ly, it is an indication of the absurdity of Harris' inadequate complaint

that she cites as an example of false advertising that Mr. Stein may have quoted a judge' s

use of the word "absurd" out of context.

23. S h e declined to include in her complaint the many times when Superior

Court Judge William F. Highberger, the highly-regarded Trial Judge in the California

Bank of America Case, has supported the validity of Mr. Stein's legal claims. The Bank

of America affidavit submitted by Mr. Harris and Defendants omits Judge Highberger's

on-the-record findings. Take pages 3 and 4 of the transcript of the January 11, 2011

hearing in which Judge Highberger largely denied BofA's motion to dismiss the case:

Judge Highberger: Some of the claims as pressed, if actually successful,

and tried to a jury with a request for punitive damages could, theoretically,

if the plaintiffs get things to go the way they say they want them to go,

to lead to such — can potentially, I'm not by any stretch of imagination

guaranteeing this or saying i t w i l l be the more l ikely or reasonable

outcome, but if plaintiffs get this case where they think they want to put

this case they are presumably going to get a judgment for billions of dollars

against Bank of America, potentially creating a problem of such gravity

that action by the central bank or a state or federal legislative body might

theoretically be

needed."

Clearly Judge Highberger is not treating this case as a sham lawsuit.

24. T h e simple truth is this: Mr. Stein and his legal associates, who have built

their caseload not through fraudulent mailings but through tens of thousands of hours of

detective work, are Bank of America's biggest nightmare. And while Harris claims to be

on the side of the homeowner, she is effectively trying to provide Bank of America, one

of the nation's worst corporate citizens in history who is now being sued again by a very

recent federal lawsuit, a "get out of jail free card" by silencing Mr. Stein. In doing so,

12
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she has also wronged citizens of New York, Florida, Arizona, Texas and across the

United States, some of which sue herein, and some of which have sued in their own

jurisdiction which is their right under the United States Constitution.
25. H ar ris has acted as the pawn of America's most powerful banks, rather than

in the interests of United States homeowners. Plaintiffs refuse to be made victims of

Harris' poor judgment, fraud, deceit and theft of their files.

26. T h e p laintiffs in this case know that Kamala Harris isn't on their side.

They know their real advocate is Mitchell J. Stein, the man who — since 2009 and for

much of that time without any fee — has spent hours listening to their stories of

frustration and fear, who filed legal papers on their behalf and who has always done this

for the downtrodden: Going into court hundreds of times against some of America' s

highest paid legal firepower over a 25-year career. They aren't going to stand by while

Kamala Harris victimizes them again by denying them their right to do battle with

counsel of their choice against banks that have stolen — or are threatening to steal — their

homes using fraudulent means.

27. S i nce the defendants unlawfully shut down the LLP by duping the court

into believing that it was only shutting down Mitchell Stein's law practice, the LLP's

clients haven't been given any information about their lawsuits from the attorney general

or the state bar association, which has reportedly taken over their cases nationwide.

Many are fearful that Harris has shared their files with the very banks they are suing.

Some have been told they can't get their personal legal files for at least three years. By

that time, if the evidence of fraud is correct, their home will be long gone, Bank of

America will no longer exist and they will have been denied their day in court.

PARTIES

28. P l a intiff NELSON J. GONZALES is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

29. P l a intiff NELSON A. GONZALES is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

13

From Artic
le at G

etOutOfDebt.org



Case 0:11-cv-61967-WJZ Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 09/06/2011 Page 14 of 30

30. P l a intiff IZAIDA ALTAMIRANO is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

31. P l a intiff FATIMA APONTE is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

32. P l a intiff MIRTHA BERNES is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

33. P l a intiff PAUL CAMPAGNA is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

34. P l a intiff RENATA CIRCEO is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

35. P l a intiff LUIS COSIO is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

36. P l a intiff OCTAVIO CRUZ is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

37. P l a intiff JOSE CUESTA is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

38. P l a intiff DONNA DALTON is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

39. P l a intiff DOUGLAS DENT is an individual residing in the State of

Alabama.

40. P l a intiff NICHOLAS DEITEL is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

41. P l a intiff CHRISTIAN DIAZ i s an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

42. P l a intiff ALBERTINA FIGUEROA is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

43. P l a intiff ROBERTO FIGUEROA is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

44. P l a intiff ALAN FOGELSTROM is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

45. P l a intiff NORMA FOGELSTROM is an individual residing in the State of

14
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Florida.

46. P l a intiff LIDIA GARCIA is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

47. P l a intiff CARLOS GONZALES is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

48. P l a intiff MARIA GONZALES is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

49. P l a intiff NESTOR GUILLEN is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

50. P l a intiff ENRIQUE GUZMAN is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

51. P l a intiff MAGA GUZMAN is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

52. P l a intiff JORGE L. HERNANDEZ is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

53. P l a intiff LEONARDO HERNANDEZ is an individual residing in the State

of Florida.

54. P l a intiff MIGUEL HERNANDEZ is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

55. P l a intiff MICHELLE HURTADO is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

56. P l a intiff JEAN JOSEPH is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

57. P l a intiff MARIE JOSEPH is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

58. P l a intiff JEROME KAMINS is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

59. P l a intiff JASPAL KOCHAR is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

60. P l a intiff ALENJANDRO LUZARDO is an individual residing in the State

of Florida.

61. P l a intiff MIROSLAVA LITTERDRAGT is an individual residing in the
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State of Florida.

62. P l a intiff DINORAH LLANES is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

63. P l a intiff STELLA R. MARKELY is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

64. P l a intiff MARIE MILLER is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

65. P l a intiff AARON MIR is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

66. P l a intiff ARLYN MIR is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

67. P l a intiff JASON MOEDING is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

68. P l a intiff CINDY MURILLO is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

69. P l a intiff TALIA OLIVERA is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

70. P l a intiff RUBEN PARRA is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

71. P l a intiff CONNIE RICOTTA is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

72. P l a intiff EDDIE RIVERA is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

73. P l a intiff NANCY P. RODRIGUEZ is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

74. P l a intiff LOURDES RUIZ DE LA TORRE is an individual residing in the

State of Florida.

75. P l a intiff MARTHA RODRIGUEZ is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

76. P l a intiff GUIDO RODRIGUEZ is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

77. P l a intiff JAIME SANCHEZ is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

78. P l a intiff MARGARITA SHEA is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.
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79. P l a intiff JULIET SICSIC is an individual residing in the State of Florida.

80. P l a intiff ILIANA SORRENSEN is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

81. P l a intiff DAVID STARKEY is an individual residing in the State of

TENNESSEE.

82. P l a intiff ASHMELLEY THERVIL is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

83. P l a intiff MAILIN TOMLINSON is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

84. P l a intiff HUGO URRIBARRI is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

85. P l a intiff KENNETH WEINER is an individual residing in the State of

Florida.

86. P l a intif f JAMES YOCUM i s an i ndividual residing in the State of

ALABAMA.

87. P l a intiffs ROES 1 through 4 are individuals currently employed by the

United States of America and other governmental agencies, who wish to maintain their

anonymity and have a constitutional right to do so. They wish to have the documents and

attorney client privileged information stolen from them returned to the custody and

control of the LLP, as a matter of national security and as a matter of fundamental, basic

laws protecting attorney client privileged information. I t is no secret that the United

States of America is suing Bank of America whilst the defendants are cavorting with

Bank of America. T hat "unsafe" condition — defined as such by the FDIC, the

Comptroller of the Currency and the Department of Homeland Security — requires at the

current time that the identities of these individuals be maintained confidential.

88. De f endant STATE OF CALIFORNIA is a government entity.

89. De f endant COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES is a government entity.

90. De f endant CITY OF LOS ANGELES is a government entity.
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91. De f endant KAMALA D. HARRIS is the Attorney General of the State of

California. She is being sued individually and in her official capacity.

92. De f endant BENJAMIN DIEHL is an attorney for the Office of the Attorney

General for the State of California. He is being sued individually and in his official

capacity.

93. De f endant JAMES M. TOMA is a Deputy Attorney General for the State of

California. He is being sued individually and in his official capacity.

94. De f endant THE STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA is a public corporation

and a part of the California Supreme Court.

95. P l a intiffs are is unaware of the true names and capacities of the Defendants

sued herein as DOES 1 through 10, and therefore sue these Defendants by such fictitious

names. Plaintiffs will seek leave to amend this Complaint to allege the true names and

capacities of these Defendants once such information is ascertained.

96. E a ch of the Defendants herein was the agent or employee of the other

Defendants herein, and thereby participated in all of the wrongdoing described below.

Each Defendant performed the bad acts described, and/or knew of and ratified such

wrongful conduct performed by the other Defendants. Thus, each Defendant is

responsible for the acts, events and omissions set forth herein and is sued for that reason.

STATEMENT OF FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS STATEMENT OF

FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS

97. O n A ugust 17, 2011, Defendants and/or agents working at their direction

and for their benefit appeared at the LLP — after approving it for business three months

earlier, yet concealing the fact of the LLP from the Court — without notice or legal

authority and kept employees and independent contractors present there in custody with a

show of force that included weapons and taser guns for over an hour.

98. M e anwhile, Defendants and/or agents working at their direction and for

their benefit proceeded to seize all files found at the LLP, including all files belonging to

Plaintiffs herein and privileged files of the United States Government of which the LLP is
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an advisor. Defendants further seized personal property belonging to employees of the

LLP and contractors working there. Such personal property included computers, hard

drives, flash drives and any documents that might contain information regarding litigation

of the Law Firm. Again, such files and personal property were seized and taken without

warrant or legal authority.

99. Th i s show of authority and warrantless aggression by Defendants in general

and by Defendant State of California ["State"] and Defendant Kamala D. Harris in

particular was a blatant grab for power and glory — without the attention to detail required

in a civilized society — that was unjustified and without factual basis. While Defendant

Harris complained that Mr. Stein unlawfully sent out advertising mailers or other

advertisements, this issue was already debunked by Los Angeles Superior Court William

F. Highberger, when Bank of America raised the issue as a defense to its illegal practices

on February 3, 2011. Judge Highberger referred to Mr. Stein as a "v ictim, not a

perpetrator" based on what had been presented. He told attorneys for Bank of America to

return to his court room if they had evidence against Mr. Stein. Harris concealed this fact

from the Court on August 15, 2011, and more importantly concealed from the Court that

she really wanted to seize files and records of an LLP she had not named. An elected

public official, Harris seized the records of home owners across the Country it has no

jurisdiction over, and seized a quarter million dollars of equipment of an LLP the

defendants approved for business but did not name in any lawsuit.

100. Plaintiff Stein was not guilty of any of the acts of so-called wrongdoing that

Defendants had specified in their Complaint and accompanying papers filed in secret at

the Van Nuys courthouse on August 15, 2011.

101. The law f irm of which Mr. Stein is a partner — Mitchell J. Stein &

Associates LLP — had not even been named in Defendants' moving papers or the

resultant court orders issued out of Van Nuys. Thus, Defendants had no right to intrude

into the Law Firm and harass and intimidate the workers and persons present there on

August 17.
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102. The very week Trial Judge Highberger rejected Bank of America lawyers'

criticisms of Mr. Stein — the Judge calling Mr. Stein a victim, not a perpetrator -these

same lawyers who have been pummeled by Mr. Stein then ignored Judge Highberger and

secretly funneled money into the Defendants' campaign coffers as a predicate to induce

Defendants to take the illegal, fraudulent actions of seizing records of a person without

prior judicial authority.

103. More incredibly, it was the Defendants and Harris who approved the only

blatantly unlawful mailer known, Exhibit 1 hereto. Calls to Harris' office by distraught

homeowners asking for receipt of their $75,000 as a result of the illegal mailer, Exhibit

1, were met with "hang ups" and "email runarounds."

104. The "Co-Conspirators" with Damian Kutzner, submitted to Defendant

Harris a two-page advertising flyer that advertised that members of the public should pay

$5,000 to join litigation against banks and that they shall receive a settlement of $75,000.

(See Exhibit 1, attached hereto.) After reviewing the proposed illegal mailer, Defendant

gave approval to have the Brookstone Co-Conspirators send it to members of the public

both in California and across the country, which constitutes interstate commerce. Acting

at the direction of Bank of America, Harris wanted homeowners to contact the weakest

and most inexperienced attorneys, the Brookstone Co-Conspirators.

105. Defendant Harris held a TV press conference talking at length about how

she had stopped "evil attorneys" from continuing to solicit new clients improperly, all the

while knowing that the Brookstone Co-Conspirators were actually guilty of what she

was accusing attorney Mr. Stein of doing and worse: Harris is a co-conspirator in the

violation of a Federal Trade Commission order. Yet Brookstone Law and its sleazy

lawyer Kenin Spivak were never invaded and Brookstone never had its files or property

seized. To the contrary, Co-Conspirators announced that the mailer, Exhibit 1, had

been pre-approved by the State Bar.

106. Defendants have perpetrated a fraud and violated the due process of each

Plaintiff herein. M i tchell J. Stein has been the lead attorney suing Bank of America
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["BofA"] since March 2009 in action alleging fraud, unfair business practices and

violation of privacy, among other causes of action. Mr. Stein has advised the Department

of Homeland Security on the manner in which the banks have defrauded Americans and

has been asked that he continue to do so. All such claims arise from the 2008 mortgage

crisis that in turn caused the financial crisis across this country.

107. BofA is also currently being sued by the United States government. BofA

is further subject to Federal Consent Orders issued on April 15, 2011. Similarly, the

Brookstone Co-Conspirators are subject to Federal Consent Orders issued for the same

kind of wrongdoing. Ms. Harris has given them "ground cover" that in her State, she can

ignore Federal Consent Orders. She has told the criminals to forget about United States

Senators in California because she can control them and ignore them. BofA has already

been subject to f ines and penalties in the bil l ions of dollars by the United States

government. And, BofA is subject to findings by the FDIC and the Department of

Homeland Security regarding "unsafe" and "unsound" practices occurring now and

impacting the safety of al l Americans. Defendants' fraud and corrupt conduct has

resulted in a receiver being appointed for thousands of homeowners nationwide who are

clients of the LLP. More than 200 of these clients have already executed declarations

stating under oath that (a) Stein and the LLP did not do the acts alleged by Defendants

and (b) the clients are unwilling to be involuntarily forced to accept a "receiver" as their

new attorney in their lawsuits nationwide against Bank of America.

108. The gravamen of the secret ex parte motion and Complaint fi led by

Defendants in the Van Nuys courthouse on August 15, 2011, is as follows: Defendants

falsely claimed — and concealed from this Court significant evidence to the contrary 

that (a) Stein was involved in a scheme with the 26 other Defendants herein to

improperly solicit homeowners to join lawsuits against banks, and (b) Stein has, since

2009, falsely reported the status of the Los Angeles BofA Lawsuit and has exaggerated

the results obtained in that BofA Lawsuit. [Defendants' actions against Plaintiff Stein

herein and the other 26 defendants filed in Van Nuys shall be referred to as the "Van
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Nuys State Action."]

109. In so p leading, Defendants intentionally concealed significant Federal

Orders and Findings as well as significant judicial rulings in the Los Angeles BofA

Lawsuit obtained with Stein leading the charge. Based on such fraudulent claims and

material omissions, in the Van Nuys State Action, Defendants asked the Van Nuys court

to (a) place Stein (but not the LLP) into immediate receivership, (b) freeze all bank

accounts of Stein and a law firm the Defendants represented was a dba of Stein, and (c)
immediately remove property and files belonging to Stein and his clients. What the

Defendants then actually did is remove files of clients across the country, and remove

files owned by the United States Government and home owners referred to the LLP by

the United States Government.

110. A l though Defendants' official investigator, Thomas Layton, interviewed

each and every one of the other 26 Defendants herein, Layton neither interviewed any of

the foregoing witnesses, nor interviewed any homeowner-plaintiff represented by Stein

and the Firm in the Firm's Los Angeles BofA Lawsuit and other similar litigation against

bank servicers. Further, Layton never made any "investigative" telephone calls to the

Firm to see if the Firms' employees were improperly marketing the Firm's services or

otherwise conducting business in a wrongful or illegal manner. (This is no surprise, since

Mr. Layton testified in his own declaration that his investigation "focused extensively on

Kramer & K a s low and Phillip Kramer [other defendants in the Van Nuys State

Action].") Defendants concealed these facts while obtaining their secret receivership,

account freezes and property removal orders against Stein and then levied them illegally

on the LLP in violation of the United States Constitution.

111. Nearly 200 declarations filed by the homeowners represented by Stein and

the Firm that confirm not only that these homeowners were never solicited in any way by

Stein and the Firm, and that many such clients of the Firm paid no up-front retainer

money in order to hire Stein.

112. Al l of the client files of these (and other) homeowners have been seized
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without notice by Defendants in concert with BofA, despite the comments of the trial

court in the California Bank of America Litigation that a notice of any such proceeding is

mandatory and despite BofA's attorneys expressly agreeing to giving such notice on the

iecord.

113. Defendants (a) obtained orders shutting down the Firm without notice or

opportunity to be heard, and without even naming the Firm as a party, and then (b)
immediately embarked on a campaign of public announcements to support Bank of

America.

114. There was a federal Consent Order dated April 15, 2011, entered against

BofA. Th is federal Consent Order was concealed by Defendants in obtaining their

receivership, account freeze and property removal orders against Stein and the LLP.

115. There was a Report of the FDIC and Comptroller of the Currency issued in

Spring 2011 regarding the conduct of BofA (and 13 other bank servicers). Mr. Stein

contributed to this Report, which was concealed by Defendants in obtaining their

receivership and property freeze orders. The privileged documents of the United States

of America were seized by the Defendants. It is Mr. Stein's duty to retrieve those seized

documents, the failure to do so of which would permit Bank of America to continue to

defraud the United States of America and its citizens. Mr. Stein has been asked by DHS'

representatives Roes 1 through 4 to retrieve their documents, as the DHS now readies to

take additional actions to protect the Homeland.

116. Indeed, there was a Report issued by the Senate Subcommittee for the

Department of Homeland Security ["DHS Report"] in Summer 2011. This Report found

that BofA and a number of other institutions had engaged in misconduct that constituted a

risk to citizens' "safety" throughout the Homeland. This report is some 800 pages long

and can be found online at

http: //hsgac.senate.gov/public/ files/Financial Crisis/FinancialCrisisReport.pdf. Mr .

Stein participated in the preparation of such report.

117. The Senate DHS Report details the bank misconduct and resulting
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protection of the Homeland necessary as a result of 14 bank servicers' misconduct. The

Senate DHS Report was concealed by Defendants in obtaining their receivership, account

freezes and property removal orders against Mr. Stein. Since the middle of 2010, Mr.

Stein and his predecessor firm and his current Firm have worked directly with the Senate

Subcommittee on Homeland Security with specific respect to this DHS Report.

118. Shortly before the filing of this Complaint, U.S. Bancorp sued Bank of

America because it wants BofA to r epurchase poorly-written mortgages sold by

Countrywide Financial ["Countrywide"] in 2005. (BofA bought Countrywide in 2008.)

119. This new lawsuit, f i led in New York, claims Countrywide sold U.S.

Bancorp a pool of over 4,000 loans originally valued at $1.75 billion. U.S. Bancorp

claims Countrywide ignored its own mortgage underwriting guidelines when issuing

those loans. These are similar to the allegations appearing in Stein's Complaint

against BofA and the other lenders he is currently suing dating back to 2009. It was

Stein's investigation which led to the FDIC, Comptroller's and Senate DHS reports.

Yet, agents for Harris and the other Defendants have stated that Stein was obviously

defrauding the public because "everyone knows you can't win against the banks." The

United States of America is suing 14 bank servicers.

120. The trial court in the California Bank of America Litigation found that the

claims of the Firm's clients could lead to a damage award in the billions of dollars and

could lead to a government takeover of BofA. This statement by the Hon. William F.

Highberger of the Complex Litigation Section of the Los Angeles Superior Court was

concealed by Defendants in obtaining their receivership, account freezes and property

removal orders against Stein and the Firm.

121. On August 1, 2011, Stein's purportedly unsuccessful case against Bank of

America (as alleged by Defendants) managed to add some 160 additional Plaintiffs to the

Lawsuit, when a motion by Stein and the Firm was granted. This ruling by the Hon.

William F. Highberger was concealed by Defendants in obtaining their receivership,

account freezes and property removal orders against Stein and the Firm.
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122. Defendants contend that the addition of these 160 Plaintiffs on August 1,

2011, was somehow "wrongful." The trial court disagreed and granted Plainttiffs' ex

parte application to add these parties to the Los Angeles BofA Lawsuit . [This ruling will

be hereinafter be referred to as the "TRIAL COURT ORDER."]

123. Then Defendants (a) concealed this TRIAL COURT ORDER from the Van

Nuys court by deviously utilizing a declaration of BofA's lawyer Nafiz Cekirge in which

BofA also concealed the TRIAL COURT ORDER acting in conspiracy with Defendants,

(b) concealed an earlier court order of Judge Highberger requiring notice in the event that
the issue of wrongful or improper marketing was ever raised after BofA's unsuccessful

attempt to accuse Stein of such conduct on February 3, 2011, and (c) further concealed
BofA's agreement on the record that notice would be given if such an issue was raised

again, which BofA stated would be within a week or so of February 3, 2011.

124. Bank of America, having lost the first battle, and now incurring consent

orders, adverse findings and lawsuits against it by the United States of America and states

Attorneys General, is currently engaging in the tactic of lobbying state officials to (a)
attack law firms who are suing it and thus (b) avoid compliance with the recent federal

orders, lawsuits and findings.

125. According to Defendant James M. Toma, Deputy Attorney General for the

State of California, the first lawsuit against BofA following the 2008 meltdown was filed

by attorney Stein. What Defendant Toma did not disclose is that Stein's lawsuit was filed

with the full knowledge and support of the State of California and particularly Defendant

Benjamin Diehl.

126. Neither Stein nor his Law Firm are currently the subject of any pending

client complaint filed with the State Bar and sent to the LLC. I n 1 ,000 pages of

documents secretly filed on August 15, 2011, with at the Van Nuys courthouse against

nearly 30 defendants, Defendants submitted some 16 consumer affidavits not one of

which complains about Stein or his Law Firm. Indeed, there is not one homeowner

complaint pending anywhere in the United States against Stein or his Law Firm.
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127. To cover up their fraud, Defendants worked with their partner Bank of

America to concoct a preposterous BofA declaration stating that attorney Stein has not

obtained any positive results in the Los Angeles BofA Lawsuit. This declaration was

false. Stein has obtained substantive results in the Los Angeles BofA Lawsuit. For

example, BofA admits that (a) Stein brought an ex parte application to rescind Notices of

Default, and (b) BofA was present in court but did not want to submit to the hearing.

Instead, BofA stipulated to the rescissions of the Notices of Default, without prejudice.

Defendants claim it is wrongful for Stein and his Firm to refer to the rescission of Notice

of Default as a positive result, yet they concealed from the Van Nuys court the fact of the

ex parte application or the fact that the Notices of Default were actually rescinded at that

time. Obtaining rescissions of Notices of Default at an ex parte hearing seeking such

relief is unprecedented in California.

128. On January 11, 2011, the trial judge for the Los Angeles BofA Lawsuit 

Hon. William F. Highberger — overruled in large part BofA's motion to dismiss and

stated as follows:

THE COURT: SOME OF THE CLAIMS AS PRESSED, IF ACTUALLY

SUCCESSFUL, AND TRIED TO A JURY WITH A REQUEST FOR

PUNITIVE DAM AGE S COU LD, THEORETICALLY, IF THE

PLAINTIFFS GET THINGS TO GO THE WAY T HEY SAY THEY

WANT THEM TO GO, TO LEAD TO SUCH — CAN POTENTIALLY,

I'M NOT BY ANY STRETCH OF IMAGINATION GUARANTEEING

T HIS OR SAYING IT W ILL BE TH E M ORE L IKELY O R

REASONABLE OUTCOME, BUT IF PLAINTIFFS GET THIS CASE

WHERE THEY THINK THEY WANT TO PUT THIS CASE THEY ARE

PRESUMABLY GOING TO GET A JUDGMENT FOR BILLIONS OF

DOLLARS A G A INST BA N K OF A M ER I CA , P O T ENTIALLY

CREATING A PROBLEM OF SUCH GRAVITY THAT ACTION BY

THE CENTRAL BANK OR A STATE OR FEDERAL LEGISLATIVE
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BODY MIGHT THEORETICALLY BE NEEDED.

(Transcript of 1/11/11 hearing, pp. 3-4.)

COUNT 1

Violation of Civil Rights Under 42 U.S.C. g 1983

(By All Plaintiffs Against All Defendants)

129. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all of the above paragraphs of this Complaint

as if fully set forth herein.

130. At all times relevant herein, the conduct of all Defendants was subject to 42

U.S.C. )) 1983, 1985, 1986 and 1988.

131. Act ing under the color of l aw, Defendants and the Brookstone Co 

Conspirators acted and conspired together to deny each Plaintiff herein of his or rights,

privileges or immunities secured and guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution or by federal

law, including:

a. By de p r iving him or her of their r ight to property without due

process of law;

b. By making an unreasonable search and seizure of his or her property

without due process of law;

c. By co nspiring for the purpose of impeding and hindering the due

course of justice, with intent to deny each Plaintiff equal protection of laws;

d . By int entionally t r icking plaintiffs into paying money to t he

Brookstone Co-Conspirators based upon the Defendants' ratification of the story

that the banks had "settled" with "the class" for $75,000 per person;

e. By r e fusing or neglecting to prevent such deprivations and denials to

each Plaintiff.

132. By fo l lowing the above-described actions, each Defendant deprived each

Plaintiff of his or her rights, privileges and immunities as guaranteed by the Fourth, Fifth

and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution, as well as 42 U.S.C. 1983.

133. As a direct and proximate result of each Defendant's conduct as described
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above, each Plaintiff has suffered general, special and compensatory damages according

to proof in excess of $1 billion.

134. Punitive damages are recoverable in a section 1983 suit where the

defendant's conduct is motivated by an evil motive or intent, or where it involves

reckless or callous indifference to a plaintiff's federally-protected rights. (Smith v. White,

461 U.S. 30, 50-51(1983); Clark v. Taylor, 710 F.2d 4, 14 (1st Cir. 1983).) Here, each

Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages from each Defendant in an amount calculated to

deter such wrongful conduct in the future.

135. Each Plaintiff is also entitled to costs of suit and reasonable attorney's fees.

COUNT 2

Declaratory Relief Under 28 U.S.C. g 2201

136. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all of the above paragraphs of this Complaint

as if fully set forth herein.

137. There is an actual controversy between Plaintiffs and Defendants herein

regarding whether "Mitchell J. Stein & Associates LLP" is a so-called dba of Plaintiff

Mitchell J. Stein or is an LLP of which Mr. Stein is merely a partner in a national law

firm representing plaintiffs in 22-states.

138. Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment or decree under 28 U.S.C. ) 2201

declaring the respective rights and obligations of the parties regarding this issue.

139. Plaintiffs are entitled to judgment in their favor against Defendants.

Plaintiffs are further entitled to costs of suit and reasonable attorney' fees.

COUNT 3

For An Injunction Under 28 U.S.C. g 2283

140. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate all of the above paragraphs of this Complaint

as if fully set forth herein.

141. 28 U.S.C. ) 2283 allows a federal court to issue an injunction against a

state court where the prosecution at issue is part of some pattern of harassment against an
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individual or individuals; or where the law being enforced is utterly and irredeemably

unconstitutional.

142. Plaintiffs submit that one or both of the above-stated conditions apply

herein: Defendants invaded Stein's Law Firm and seized files and property all as part of

a pattern of corruption by Bank of America against the United States of America and

against Stein and his clients, the other Plaintiffs herein. In that way, Defendant Harris

could curry favor with Bank of America, an important donor and supporter.

143. Further, as set forth in Count 1 above, the law or laws being enforced were

unconstitutional in that Harris was applying them to some citizens but not others.

144. Plaintiffs therefore request that this Court issue an order enjoining

Defendants and/or the Van Nuys court from prosecuting any Plaintiff herein or further

enforcing the orders signed by the Van Nuys court on August 15, 2011, as they pertain to

Plaintiff Stein, his clients — the other Plaintiffs herein — and/or Stein's Law Firm.

REQUESTED RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against each Defendant as follows:

A. Gen eral damages according to proof, including $1 billion-plus under

the first cause of action;

B. Special damages according to proof;

C. I nj u nctive relief as specified in Count 3;

D. Pun i t ive damages;

E. Dec l aratory relief in the form of a judicial decree finding that the

entity MITCHELL J. STEIN & ASSOCIATES LLP is not a dba of

Plaintiff MITCHELL J. STEIN;

F. Cos ts of suit and pre- and post-judgment interest;

G. Re a sonable attorney's fees;

F. Gra n t such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
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Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL S. RILEY, P.A.
Attorneys for Plaintiff
601 South Federal Highway, Suite 202
Boca Raton, Florida 33432
Telephone No. 561.672.7580
Facsimile No. 561.672.7581

By: /s/ M i chael S. Rile
MICHAEL RILEY
Florida Bar No. 265918

MARSHALL GRANT & DALEY, P.L.
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
601 South Federal Highway, Suite 202
Boca Raton, Florida 33432
Telephone No. 561.672.7580
Facsimile No. 561.672.7581
Email: ' r a nt m dlaw f i r m.com

By: / s / Joe M. Grant
JOE M. GRANT
Florida Bar No. 0137758
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